
 
 

 

Delegated Decisions by Cabinet Member for Children 
and Young People 
 

Tuesday, 24 February 2026 at 3.00 pm or on the rise of 

Cabinet whichever is later 
Room 1 - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 
If you wish to view proceedings, please click on this Live Stream Link. 

However, that will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 

 

Items for Decision 
 
The items for decision under individual Cabinet Members’ delegated powers are listed 
overleaf, with indicative timings, and the related reports are attached.  Decisions taken 

will become effective at the end of the working day on 27 February unless called in by 
that date for review by the appropriate Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Copies of the reports are circulated (by e-mail) to all members of the County Council. 
 

These proceedings are open to the public 
 

 
Martin Reeves 
Chief Executive 

February 2026 

 
Committee Officer: Email: 

committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

Note:  Date of next meeting: 17 March 2026 
 
 

 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
 

https://oxon.cc/DDCMCEYP24022026


Page 2  
 

 

 

Items for Decision 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

See guidance below.  
 

2. Questions from County Councillors  

 
Any county councillor may, by giving notice to the Proper Officer by 9 am three working 

days before the meeting, ask a question on an item on the agenda. 
 

The number of questions which may be asked by any councillor at any one meeting is 
limited to two (or one question with notice and a supplementary question at the meeting) 
and the time for questions will be limited to 30 minutes in total. As with questions at 

Council, any questions which remain unanswered at the end of this item will receive a 
written response.  

 
Questions submitted prior to the agenda being despatched are shown below and will be 
the subject of a response from the appropriate Cabinet Member or such other councillor 

or officer as is determined by the Cabinet Member, and shall not be the subject of further 
debate at this meeting. Questions received after the despatch of the agenda, but before 

the deadline, will be shown on the Schedule of Addenda circulated at the meeting, 
together with any written response which is available at that time. 
 

3. Petitions and Public Address  

 

Members of the public who wish to speak on an item on the agenda at this meeting, or 
present a petition, can attend the meeting in person or ‘virtually’ through an online 
connection.  

 
Requests to present a petition must be submitted no later than 9am ten working days 

before the meeting.  
 
Requests to speak must be submitted no later than 9am three working days before the 

meeting.  
 

Requests should be submitted to committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 
If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of your presentation to 

ensure that if the technology fails, then your views can still be taken into account. A 
written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9am on the day of the 

meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet. 
 

4. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 8) 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2026 to be signed by the Chair 

as a correct record. 
 

5. Enhanced Pathways Business Case (Pages 9 - 20) 

 

mailto:committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Page 3  
 

 

Cabinet Member: Children & Young People 
Forward Plan Ref: 2025/271 

Contact: Clare Hanchet, Manager – SEND Strategic Early Intervention Team 
(Clare.Hanchet@oxfordshire.gov.uk)  

 
Report by Director of Children’s Services (CMDCEYP5). 

 

Returning with the Enhanced Pathways Business Case seeking approval to expand the 
project for academic year 26/27 with funding for another 20 pathways, extending the 

project to 60 countywide. 
 
The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to:  

  
a) Approve the Council to fund a further 20 Enhanced Pathways 

to triple the reach of the project to enable the Council to offer a more 
equitable offer across the county to meet the increasing numbers and 
complexities of children and young people with Special Educational Needs 

in mainstream schools and to realise probable savings through this spend 
to save model.   

  
b) Approve the Council’s budgetary commitment for a period of 3 years for 

each Enhanced Pathway (barring significant changes to central government 

funding of SEND during that period).   

  
c) Commit to consider and review opportunities to upscale the Enhanced 

Pathways programme over the coming years in line with the impact 
evidence provided.   

 

6. Formal Approval of Early Years Funding Formula 2026/27 (Pages 

21 - 26) 
 
Cabinet Member: Children & Young People 

Forward Plan Ref: 2026/015 
Contact: Jane Billington, Strategic Finance Business Partner 

(Jane.Billington@oxfordshire.gov.uk)  
  
Report by Director of Children’s Services (CMDCEYP6).  

 
The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers (after 

allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of Education (DfE) 

criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding formula for 3- and 4-
year-old provision with an underlying hourly rate of £6.04 (excluding the 

supplements, SEN Inclusion Fund and Contingency). 
 

b) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers (after 

allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of Education (DfE) 
criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding formula for 2-year-old 

working parent provision at an hourly rate of £8.29. 
 

mailto:Clare.Hanchet@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.Billington@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Page 4  
 

 

c) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers (after 
allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of Education (DfE) 

criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding formula for 2-year-
olds of families receiving additional support at an hourly rate of £8.29. 

 
d) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers (after 

allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of Education (DfE) 

criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding formula for 9 Months 
to 2-year-old provision at an hourly rate of £11.33. 

 

7. Determination of 2027-28 Admission Arrangements for OCC 
Community and VC Schools  

 
Cabinet Member: Children & Young People 

Forward Plan Ref: 2025/275 
Contact: Carly Williams, Service Manager (Carly.Williams@oxfordshire.gov.uk)  

  
Report by Director of Children’s Services (CMDCEYP7).  

 
Report to follow. 
 

 

 

mailto:Carly.Williams@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Page 2  
 

 

 

Councillors declaring interests  
 

General duty  

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 

on the agenda headed ‘Declarations of Interest’ or as soon as it becomes apparent to 

you.  

 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?  

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your employment; sponsorship (i.e. payment for 

expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 

election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the 

Council’s area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be 

recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the 

Council’s website.  

 

Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member 

her or himself but also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with 

as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 

Declaring an interest  

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a 

meeting, you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature 

as well as the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after 

having declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the 

item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception  

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code 

of Conduct says that a member ‘must serve only the public interest and must never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself’ and 

that ‘you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 

questioned’.  

 

Members Code – Other registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your other registerable interests then you must declare an  interest. 

You must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and you must wi thdraw from 

the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, healthiness and happiness; 

anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively or 

negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. 

Other registrable interests include:  

a) Any unpaid directorships 



Page 3  
 

 

b) Any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority. 

c) Any body (i) exercising functions of a public nature (ii) directed to charitable 

purposes or (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of which you are a 

member or in a position of general control or management. 

 

Members Code – Non-registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests), or the financial 

interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest.  

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or wellbeing, 

a financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate or a financial interest or 

wellbeing of a body included under other registrable interests, then you must declare the 

interest.  

 

In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after disclosing your 

interest the following test should be applied:  

Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being:  

a) to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  

b) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest. 

 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 



 

DELEGATED DECISIONS BY CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Tuesday, 3 February 2026 commencing at 1.30 pm 

and finishing at 1.35 pm 
 
Present: 

 
 

Voting Members: Councillor Sean Gaul  – in the Chair 

 
 

 
Officers: 
 

 

 
Jack Ahier (Senior Democratic Services Officer), Jane 
Billington (Strategic Finance Business Partner – 

Children’s Services), Lisa Lyons (Director of Children’s 
Services) 

 
 
 

 
 

The Cabinet Member considered the matters, reports and recommendations 
contained or referred to in the agenda for the meeting [, together with a schedule of 
addenda tabled at the meeting/the following additional documents:] and agreed as 

set out below.  Copies of the agenda and reports [agenda, reports and 
schedule/additional documents] are attached to the signed Minutes. 

 
 

15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
(Agenda No. 1) 

 
There were none.  

 

16 QUESTIONS FROM COUNTY COUNCILLORS  
(Agenda No. 2) 
 

There were none.  
 

17 PETITIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESS  
(Agenda No. 3) 

 
There were none.  

 

18 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
(Agenda No. 4) 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2025 were approved and signed 
by the Chair as a correct record.  

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

19 FORMAL APPROVAL OF SCHOOLS FUNDING FORMULA 2026/27  
(Agenda No. 5) 
 

The Chair introduced the item to the meeting.  
 

The Chair noted that this was the formal approval to submit the Schools Funding 
Formula 2026/27 to the Department for Education, after consultation with local 
schools and the Schools Forum.  

 
The Chair stated that the National Formula Factor rates had been followed as closely 

as they could be subject to affordability.  
 
The Chair thanked officers and agreed to the recommendations in the report.  

 
RESOLVED to: 

 
a) Approve the final funding formula for 2026/27 for submission to 

Department for Education (DfE). 

 
 

 

 
 in the Chair 

  
Date of signing   

 
 
 

 

Page 8



 

DELEGATED DECISIONS BY CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

 

     24 February 2026 

 

Enhanced Pathways Business Case – Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) Strategic Early Intervention Team 

 

Report by Director of Children’s Services 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to: 
 

a) Approve the Council to fund a further 20 Enhanced Pathways to  triple the 
reach of the project to enable the Council to offer a more equitable offer 
across the county to meet the increasing numbers and complexities of 

children and young people with Special Educational Needs in mainstream 
schools and to realise probable savings through this spend to save 

model.  
 

b) Approve the Council’s budgetary commitment for a period of 3 years for 

each Enhanced Pathway (barring significant changes to central 
government funding of SEND during that period).  

 
c) Commit to consider and review opportunities to upscale the Enhanced 

Pathways programme over the coming years in line with the impact 

evidence provided.  

Executive Summary 
 

1. In February 2025 the Council approved the decision to continue to fund 20 

existing Enhanced Pathways and to expand the offer to a further 20 schools. 
This is with the aim of supporting the Council to meet the increasing numbers 

and complexities of children and young people with Special Educational Needs 
in mainstream schools and to realise probable savings through this spend to 
save model.  

 
2. The latest Area SEND monitoring inspection from Ofsted and the CQC 

highlighted that as a result of Enhanced Pathways, many children’s and young 
people’s needs are being more effectively met in mainstream settings. This 
business case seeks to once again expand the project further to ensure more 

children and young people can have their needs met successfully. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



3. This report is to obtain approval for the council to expand the Enhanced 
Pathway project which forms part of the SEND Transformation Programme 
(Theme 1: Right Support, Right Time) and Oxfordshire’s commitment to 

supporting early intervention. Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) in 
Oxfordshire are subject to a Local Area SEND Priority Action Plan. 

 

4. The Enhanced Pathways initiative, developed within schools, provides a 
teacher led space to support some of the most vulnerable SEND students 

across local schools, offering a bespoke and specialised curriculum that meet 
their social, emotional, communication, sensory and academic needs whilst 

remaining at their local mainstream school. Thus, supporting children who may 
need specialist beyond the offer that the Council can typically expect in a 
mainstream school. The model is designed to be a cost avoided model where 

likely savings are made by children and young people not needing an escalation 
of support such as Independent Non-maintained Special School (INMSS) 

placements or alternative education provision (AEP). 
 

5. To date the average cost to support an Enhanced Pathway in a setting per year 

is £57,233.65 The cohort size of an Enhanced Pathway is around 10 students. 

Therefore, the average cost of an Enhanced Pathway per child is £6,206.06 

depending on the amount of top up of element 3 funding from their Education, 

Health and Care Plan (EHCP) (if applicable). If a student can be stabilised and 

maintained within mainstream despite having been agreed provision other than 

mainstream is needed to meet their needs, the cost avoided would range from 

£23,790 (maintained Special School) to upwards of £70,000 (the average cost 

of an Independent Non-maintained Special School, INMSS placement, is 

£23,000 - £121,000 depending on need), plus transport costs. If one pupil within 

a pathway avoids going onto an INMSS placement, then this offers significant 

value for money when this is scaled up for all pupils across the 40 current 

pathways. 

 

6. Other costs avoided include the Education Health Care Needs Assessment 

(EHCNA) process, full 32.5 hours funding requests, and tribunals and 

alternative education provision packages (on average £13,658 annually) not 

being necessary. 

 

7. Rapidly escalating need and demand on specialist services and requests for 

specialist placements highlight a need to further develop the mainstream offer  

and this forms part of the Council’s sufficiency strategy. Data indicates that 

elevating needs will unlikely dissipate and schools and the local authority will 

continue to need to be increasingly innovative in meeting the needs of children 

and young people with SEND.  

8. An Enhanced Pathway offers a hybrid model between mainstream and 

resourced or specialist provision. Thus, Enhanced Pathways will allow the 

council to increase its capacity and therefore contribute to the continuum of 

Page 10



provision going forward whilst enriching the sufficiency strategy. The aim is to 

ensure that children and young people’s needs are met at the earliest 

opportunity by doing things differently so that children and young people can 

thrive in their local communities. 

9. Over time the Council should see reduced parental requests for ‘provision other 

than mainstream’ as parents will see that their children’s needs are met in 

Enhanced Pathways from the outset. 

 

10. The proposal is that the council would commit to this financial and ideological 

proposal for meeting the needs of children with SEND in their local mainstream 

school. 

 

Background and Local Context 
 

11. Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) in Oxfordshire are subject to a 

Local Area SEND Priority Action Plan. This project is managed under the 

governance of the Local Area Partnership SEND Improvement & Assurance 

Board (SIAB). 

12. Increasing SEND needs, in both numbers and complexity, in the County’s 

children and young people is well recognised. Specialist placements across the 

county are at capacity and establishing more provision is a lengthy process. The 

Enhanced Pathways allow children and young people's needs to be met at the 

right time. The Enhanced Pathway programme can be established more quickly 

than other sufficiency strategies underway and if agreed can be operational for 

the following academic year, stabilising the placement and meeting need 

rapidly. 

 

13. The number of EHCPs issued per year in Oxfordshire, continues to grow at a 

rapid rate from 232 (2019) to 1192 (2024) and 1485 (Jan – Nov 2025). The 

percentage of pupils with EHCPs in mainstream schools continues to increase 

which corresponds to the decline in the number of pupils with EHCPs in special 

school and INMSS placements. National figures from the latest census, January 

2025, shows that 56% of pupils with EHCPs are now educated in mainstream 

schools, a number that has increased year on year. 

 

14. The Code of Practice January 2015 Section 9.49 states that local authorities 

should consider reasonable steps that can be taken for mainstream schools and 
mainstream post-16 institutions generally to provide for children and young 
people with SEN and disabled children and young people. 

 
15. The project was originally established in 2020/21 as a 3-year seed funded 

model but due to national funding constraints for schools, it became clear that 
the seed funded to self-funded model was not achievable for them. For other 
schools this model was a deterrent to them applying for local authority 

Page 11



Enhanced Pathway funding as they knew they couldn’t sustain its existence 
beyond 3 years based on their budget forecasts.  
 

16. By extending the reach and duration of local authority funded Enhanced 
Pathways the Council will be able to incorporate more schools and therefore 

more children and young people into the programme, increasing the equitability 
of the offer across the county and enabling the Council to quality assure the 
delivery. 

 
17. The Delivering Better Value (DBV) Programme diagnostic which took place in 

Autumn 2022 identified that over the next 5 years, the deficit position will 
increase to £167.2m. This is primarily due to an increase in spend in the 
following provision areas:  

- Independent Non-Maintained Special Schools (INMSS), due to moves from 

mainstream settings, 

- Mainstream, due to an increase in Children & Young People (CYP) with an 

EHCP 

 

The diagnostic identified that the drivers for the increase in spend as the 

following areas:   

- Lack of confidence in the mainstream system from parents, especially at 

points of transition  

- Variation in the mainstream offer  

 
Case reviews with practitioners and professionals suggested that 75% of CYP 
in Oxfordshire could have had a more ideal outcome, with significant 

opportunities to support CYP in mainstream settings more often.  
 

This evidence confirmed the need to continue with initiatives that could: 

- improve outcomes for children in SEND, 

- increase parental confidence, 

- provide the opportunity for children with SEND to remain in mainstream, 

setting, 

- close the variation in the mainstream offers. 

 

The Enhanced Pathways initiative has been a response to these needs. 

18. In Oxfordshire, from 22/23 to 23/24 there was a 12.7% increase in the proportion 

of school arranged alternative education provision for pupils with EHCPs 
(mirrored nationally). Creating Enhanced Pathways in schools is a more cost-
effective way of funding provision for a group of pupils compared to individual 

alternative education provision packages which will be more costly. On average 
the cost of alternative education provision per child, per year is £12,354.55. This 

model also enables the pupil to remain within and part of the school community, 
developing a sense of belonging and success that alternative education 
provision doesn’t afford.   

 

Page 12



19. In academic year 2024 - 25 £1,194,718 has been spent on 20 Enhanced 
Pathways benefiting 292 children and young people, this would be compared to 
the same value potentially benefiting only 17 children placed at INMSS at an 

average cost of £70,000 or 96 pupils accessing alternative education provision 
packages at an average cost of £12,354.55. 

 
20. Other costs avoided include Education Health Care Needs Assessment 

(EHCNA), full 32.5 hours of EHCP funding requests, tribunals and alternative 

education provision packages not being necessary. It is also anticipated that the 
Enhanced Pathways will also produce soft savings, such as time spent dealing 

with complaints by senior leaders and councillors, as well as generating a 
reduction in legal costs arising from tribunals. 
 

21. Communications from mainstream schools with Enhanced Pathways indicate 
that if Enhanced Pathways cease it will significantly increase the risk of: 

a. Schools saying that they can no longer meet the needs of the students 

in their Enhanced Pathway 

b. Parents requesting provision other than mainstream be explored 

c. Parents pursuing tribunal if panel do not agree that provision other than 

mainstream be explored 

d. School submitting increased requests for top up funding to fund 

alternative education provision offsite for the students who were in the 

Enhanced Pathways 

 

22. The SEND Strategic Early Intervention Team is approached regularly by 

schools wanting to investigate and discuss the possibility of setting up an 

Enhanced Pathway in their setting and currently has a list of 76 schools that 

have expressed interest. This ensures that the initiative is scalable if further 

funding is secured. 

 
23. The funding per school will be calculated by using M6 teacher pay grade (25-

26) £64,412 and TA rate of £25,862 (25-26), both including oncosts, £90,274 

minus any element 3 top up funding pupils in the cohort are already in receipt 

of from their EHCPs.  

 
24. An addendum has been added to the original business case to address gaps in 

the original funding formula for Enhanced Pathways, ensuring schools with 

high-need cohorts or exceptional circumstances receive adequate financial 
support. There is a minimal funding level agreement of £32,459 for pathways 

where collective need would otherwise result in little or no funding after 
deductions – this covers an additional teaching assistant and an increase in 
teacher salary to UPS3, including on-costs. Additionally, in cases where a 

student has been approved for specialist provision (education other than 
mainstream), and meets other criteria outlined in the addendum, element 3 

funding will not be deducted. 
  

25. Equity will be ensured by: 

e. An application process that is open to all Oxfordshire mainstream 
schools 

Page 13



f. A clear threshold and criteria each application has to reach to be 

considered 

g. Consideration of both local needs and geographical distribution 

h. Establishing a board of professionals to decide each case based on 
published criteria which will include the quality of provision proposed 

and the likely forecasted savings 
i. Existing pathways need to reapply and undergo the same process 

j. Equality Climate Impact Assessment has been completed 
 

 
Priorities 

 

The creation, continuation and expansion of Enhanced Pathways, incorporates key 
priorities set out in the Council’s Strategic Plan, as below: 

 
Priorities of the Strategic Plan 2023-2025. 

 Priority 2 – Tackle inequalities in Oxfordshire. 

 Priority 3 – Prioritise the health and wellbeing of residents. 

 Priority 7 – Create opportunities for children and young people to reach their 

full potential. 

Priorities from the Oxfordshire SEND Local Area Partnership Priority Action Plan 

 Priority area 5b – there is clear alignment between strategic thinking and 
operational practice that supports the partnership's ability to support 

transformation and make sustainable change.  

 Priority area 5c – early intervention support in place to provide support to 
children young people and families before an EHC Plan has been produced.  

 

The KPIs for the project are: 

 Outcomes for children and young people are met 

 Increased parental confidence in mainstream offer 

 Child or young person's placement at school stabilises                        

 Child or young person's enjoyment of school increases 

 Improved attendance 

 The level of funding for the child or young person is stabilised 

o Reduction in school requests seeking high needs funding through 

EHCNA and top up funding 

o For the CYP without an EHCP did the school escalate to a request for 

an EHCNA 

o For the CYP without the highest level of funding for their EHCP did the 

school request additional funding 

o For the CYP with an EHCP did the school escalate to a request for 

change of placement 

Page 14



o For CYP where panel have agreed to “explore something other than 

mainstream”, has the parent/carer and school pursued this? 

 

Financial Implications 

 
26. The Enhanced Pathway project is fully funded from the Dedicated School Grant 

allocation, from the High Needs block.  
 

27. The project promotes early intervention in the mainstream school sector, 

providing opportunities for children and young people with Special Educational 
Needs to reach their potential. It is evidenced in the sector that early 

intervention, identifying and providing effective early support enables the 
mainstream sector to continue to meet the needs of pupils for as long as 
possible. Thus, preventing increased levels of support that may be needed by 

a child or young person later in their education.  
 

28. The model is designed to be a cost avoided model where likely savings are 

made by children and young people not needing an escalation of support such 
as Independent Non-maintained Special School (INMSS) placements or 

alternative education provision (AEP). 
 

29. The Enhanced Pathway project funds schools on an academic year basis for 

the schools to commit to recruitment to align to the academic year. The cost of 
the pathways in place for the 2024/25 academic year are copied below. The 

financial impact for the current year 2024/25, as well as the proposed financial 
year impact for 2025/26 is as follows: - 
 

Page 15



 
 

30. The Enhanced Pathways budget for 2025/26 is already set at £796k for 2025/26 
financial year, with savings of £1,000k. This Enhanced Pathways proposal will 

increase the 2025/26 financial year commitments from the High Needs DSG 
block by £583k and is forecast to avoid or delay a further £610k costs, which 

will have a net additional saving of £27k. 
 

31. The current and proposed Enhanced Pathways are mitigations monitored within 

the Deficit Management Plan for the Dedicated Schools Grant that the counci l 
is required to submit to the Department for Education each term.  

 
32. The Council has evidence that approximately 5% of students that have been 

previously approved for an educational setting other than mainstream, remain 

in the mainstream setting due to the current Enhanced Pathway projects. It is 
expected that there is a further 5% that, had they not had access to an 

Enhanced Pathway, would also have been approved and gone to an education 
setting other than mainstream, such as alternative education provision or 
INMSS place.  

 

33. The forecast savings are based on a prudent assumption that 10% more pupils 

accessing an Enhanced Pathway, remain in the mainstream setting than would 

have had they not accessed the Enhanced Pathway, thus avoiding more costly 

places. This may be overly prudent, and data to prove that exhaustively is not 

Cost per Year

Academic Year 

2023-24

Academic Year 

2024-25

Academic Year 

2025-26

Financial Year 

Impact

Model 1 Enhanced Pathways Annex A Table 1 481,842£               874,433£            1,748,866£        

Model 2 Enhanced Pathways Annex A Table 2 243,764£               245,330£            320,286£             

Total Academic Year Cost 725,606£               1,119,763£        2,069,152£        

Termly Cost 241,869£               373,254£            689,717£             

Financial Year 2024/25 Cost 241,869£               746,509£            988,377£                

Financial Year 2025/26 Cost 373,254£            1,379,435£        1,752,689£           

Financial Year 2026/27 Cost - Part year 689,717£             689,717£                

Academic Year Saving

Model 1 Enhanced Pathways Annex A Table 1 703,645-£               915,412-£            1,830,824-£        

Model 2 Enhanced Pathways Annex A Table 2 259,814-£               589,283-£            584,741-£             

Total Academic Year Saving 963,459-£               1,504,695-£        2,415,565-£        

Termly Saving 321,153-£               501,565-£            805,188-£             

Financial Year 2024/25 Saving 321,153-£               1,003,130-£        1,324,283-£           

Financial Year 2025/26 Saving 501,565-£            1,610,377-£        2,111,942-£           

Financial Year 2026/27 Saving - Part year 805,188-£             805,188-£                

Financial Year 2024/25 Net Saving 79,285-£                 256,621-£            -£                       335,906-£                

Financial Year 2025/26 Net Saving -£                         128,311-£            230,942-£             359,253-£                

Financial Year 2026/27 Net Saving - Part year -£                         -£                       115,471-£             115,471-£                

Page 16



yet available but longitudinal tracking of the cohorts continues to be collected 

by the service as evidence to any further future phases of this project.  

 

34. Each pathway is required to submit data and monitoring information to the 
Council to ensure that the provision is delivering the objectives as intended, 
including the mitigations and savings as laid out above.  

 
Comments checked by: 

Thomas James, Head of Financial Services 
thomas.james@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 

35. The powers and duties of the Council in respect of children and young people 

with Special Education Needs & Disability (SEND) are set out in Part 3 of the 
Children and Families Act 2014 and associated regulations, The Special 
Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 and The Special 

Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014. The Council has the 
powers to take the actions set out in this report and should have regard to the 

statutory guidance. 
 

36. The proposal is twofold. Firstly, to create a funding pot for the SEND support 

set out in the proposal, and secondly to distribute that funding via grant funding 
agreements into schools within Oxfordshire where a need has been identified. 

The Council is not purchasing a service here and is using grant agreements for 
the individual schools on a case-by-case basis to fund SEND support where 
there are needs. In that instance there is not a procurement aspect to this 

proposal and there does not need to be a consideration of either the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Procurement Act 2023 as they do not apply. 

Similarly, the Contract Procedure Rules of the Council would not prevent this 
proposal because it will be operated as a grant funding opportunity on a case-
by-case basis where the need arises. As such, the only considerations from a 

legal perspective are that a key decision has been obtained for the spend 
(anticipated circa £2m), and that legal team are involved in supporting the 

subsequent individual grant funding agreements with the relevant schools.  
 
Paragraph 33 checked by: 

Leanne Schrouder, Locum SEN Solicitor (Legal Services) 

Leanne.Schrouder@Oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Paragraph 34 checked by: 
Fiona Harte, Senior Solicitor and Team Leader (Contracts and Conveyancing) 
fiona.harte@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 

Staff Implications 

 
37. To successfully expand the Enhanced Pathways project, dedicated Project 

Officer support is critical. The complexity of coordinating multiple stakeholders, 

Page 17

mailto:thomas.james@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Leanne.Schrouder@Oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:fiona.harte@oxfordshire.gov.uk


managing timelines, and ensuring compliance with SEND improvement 
objectives cannot be absorbed within existing capacity. Without this role, there 
is a significant risk of delays, inconsistent delivery, and reduced impact on 

outcomes for children and young people. Investing in a Project Officer will 
provide focused oversight, streamline communication, and maintain quality 

standards, ensuring the expansion delivers measurable benefits and aligns with 
strategic priorities. 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
Positive Impacts 

 

38. Children with SEND will be able to access the right support at the right time as 

there will be an increase in provision within mainstream schools to meet the 

needs of children and young people with more complex special educational 

needs. 

39. The proposal does not discriminate disadvantaged, disabled children and young 

people in Oxfordshire. 

40. The option to apply for an Enhanced Pathway will be open to all of Oxfordshire’s 

mainstream schools and the 20 most eligible cases will be progressed Torun 
alongside the existing 40.  

41. Equality and Climate Impact Assessment (ECIA) completed September 2022.  

Sustainability Implications 

 

42. If children and young people are enabled to attend their local mainstream 
school, then both transportation costs and the impact on the local climate are 
negated 

Risk Management 

 
 
 

Risk Impac
t 0-5  

Likelihood Mitigation 

1 Budget 5 medium Budget implications included  

2. Quality of the provision provided 

by the school falls below expected 
standards 

5 low Termly quality assurance meetings and 

data collection points in place. Annual 
quality assurance visits 

3 No or limited interest from schools 

to set up and run enhanced 

pathways 

5 low  In the last application window there 
were over 80 applications for 40 spaces. 
There is also a waiting list of interested 
schools. 

4 Some existing pathways are 
unable to continue with the new 
funding arrangements due to 
capped staffing costs.  

5 medium Equity across all Enhanced Pathways is 

necessary to ensure the validity of 

programme 

5. Changes in central government 
funding 

5 low Clause included in service level 
agreement to allow for any change in 
funding or ring-fenced use of funding 

 

 

Page 18



Lisa Lyons 
Director of Children’s Services 

 

Contact Officer: 
 

Deborah Smit 
Assistant Director SEND and Inclusion 
Deborah.smit@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

07919 308745 
 

Clare Hanchet 
Manager, SEND Strategic Early Intervention Team,  
clare.hanchet@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

07745201476 
 

February 2026 

Page 19

mailto:Deborah.smit@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:clare.hanchet@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Divisions Affected - ALL 

 

DELEGATED DECISIONS BY CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE  

24 February 2026 
 

Formal Approval of Early Years Funding Formula 2026/27  
 

Report by Director of Children’s Services 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to 

 

a) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers 
(after allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of 
Education (DfE) criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding 

formula for 3- and 4-year-old provision with an underlying hourly rate 
of £6.04 (excluding the supplements, SEN Inclusion Fund and 

Contingency). 

b) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers 

(after allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of 

Education (DfE) criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding 

formula for 2-year-old working parent provision at an hourly rate of 

£8.29. 

c) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers 

(after allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of 

Education (DfE) criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding 

formula for 2-year-olds of families receiving additional support at an 

hourly rate of £8.29. 

d) Pass the funding increase received by Oxfordshire onto providers 

(after allowing for centrally retained funding per Department of 

Education (DfE) criteria) and approve the 2026-27 Early Years funding 

formula for 9 Months to 2-year-old provision at an hourly rate of 

£11.33. 

Executive Summary 

1. The local authority is required to set the funding formula within DfE criteria for: 

(1). 9 Months to 2-year-old  

(2). 2-year-old provision   

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2 

 

(3). 3- and 4-year-old provision  

2. The 2026-27 formula proposed is in line with the DfE national formula 
introduced in 2017-18.  

3. The local authority is responsible for making the final decisions on the formula. 
 

4. Early Years Providers and Schools Forum were consulted on the Early Years 
Funding Formula, and the overwhelming response was to pass on the increase 
in hourly rate in full to providers.  

 
Introduction 

5. In 2017-18, the Department for Education (DfE) introduced the Early Years 

National Funding Formula (EYNFF). This formula sets out the hourly funding 

rates that each Local Authority (LA) will receive from the government funded 

entitlements for 3 and 4- year-olds, 2-year-olds and from 9 months to 2-year-

olds. The DfE published the Early Years Entitlements: local authority funding for 

providers (the Operational Guide) on 15th December 2025 and this sets out the 

overall framework and expectations on Local Authorities regarding the EYNFF 

for 2026-27.  

6. The hourly rate which Oxfordshire’s receives from the DfE to deliver all 

elements of the formula for 3- and 4-year-olds has increased by 43p from £6.00 

to £6.43 (7.2%); for 2-year-olds the formula has increased by 29p from £8.38 to 

£8.67 (3.5%) and for 9 months to 2-year-olds the increase is 39p increasing 

from £11.35 to £11.74 (3.4%). This is inclusive of amounts for central services, 

supplements (mandatory deprivation supplement), the Contingency, and the 

SEN Inclusion Fund delegated funding. 

 
The Early Years Funding Formula  
 

7. The DfE published the updated EYNFF Operational Guide (December 2025), 
which sets the overall framework and expectations on local authorities 

regarding the EYNFF.   
 

8. The proposed 2026-27 formula follows principles that were established when 

the EYNFF was first introduced in 2017-18.  
 

9. The key elements of the formula, meeting DfE requirements, are: 
 

The formula relates to the following early years entitlements: (all entitlements 

are 38 weeks a year unless stretched) 

a) 30 hours entitlement for qualifying children of working parents aged from 9 
months until the child turns 2 years old. 

b) 30 hours entitlement for qualifying children of working parents aged 2. 

c) 15 hours entitlement for families with 2-year-olds receiving additional forms 

of support (formerly known as the 2-year-old disadvantaged entitlement). 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2026-to-2027/early-years-entitlements-local-authority-funding-operational-guide-2026-to-2027


3 

 

d) Universal 15 hours entitlement for all 3 and 4-year-olds and the additional 
15 hours entitlement for qualifying children of working parents aged 3 and 4. 

e) A minimum amount of funding to be passed through to providers. The pass-

through requirement is intended to ensure the maximum amount of funding 
allocated to local authorities by the DfE reaches providers. The pass-

through funding level is set by the DfE and for 2026-27 the minimum pass-
through rate has increased from 96% to 97%. The new 97% requirement 
will apply separately to each of the four early years entitlements listed in 

10.a-d. Oxfordshire are proposing a passthrough rate of 97% with a 3% 
centrally retained fund (£3.79m). 

f) A local universal base rate for all types of providers – Local authorities are 
required to set a universal base rate in their local single funding formulae, 
meaning there must be a base rate the same for all types of providers. This 

underlying base rate excludes Supplements, the SEN Inclusion Fund 
allocations, and any agreed upon Contingency fund(s). 

g) A mandatory supplement for Deprivation for 3- and 4-year-olds. LAs have 
the freedom to choose the appropriate metric for allocating deprivation 
funding. LAs are free to choose the metric used however funding rates are 

set by the DFE. Following earlier consultation, the method for allocating 
deprivation funding was agreed as an enhancement on top of the Early 

Years Pupil Premium (EYPP). The EYPP rate has increased from £1.00 in 
the current year to £1.15 in FY 2026-27. The deprivation supplement was 
set at 47p per hour in FY 2024-25, There has been no change to that rate in 

FY 2025-26 or 2026-27. (The 47p supplement also applies to additional 
hours, although EYPP can only be paid on universal 15 hours). 

h) A special educational needs (SEN) inclusion fund. This is to target funding 

at children with lower level or emerging SEN. 

i) A contingency fund set aside for changes in the number of children taking 

up the entitlements throughout the year. 

 

10. Additional funding streams are as follows: 

 
a) The disability access fund (DAF). The DAF was introduced in April 2017 to 

support disabled children’s access to the entitlements for 3- and 4-year-
olds. From 2024-25 DAF eligibility was extended to eligible 2-year-olds and 
children 9 months to 2 years, accessing the entitlements. LAs must fund all 

types of settings providing a place for DAF-eligible children at an annual 
rate of at least £975 per child in 2026-27. 

 
b) Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP). The EYPP gives providers additional 

funding to support children from families receiving additional support 

accessing an entitlement place. For 2026-27 EYPP covers all children who 
are accessing the entitlements and meeting the eligibility criteria (detailed 

in section 9.1 of the early years operational guidance). LAs must fund early 
years providers at a rate of at least £1.15 per hour per eligible child on the 
first 15 hours only up to a maximum of 570 hours. 

 

Page 23



4 

 

c) Supplementary funding for maintained nursery schools (MNS). LA’s with 
MNS will receive supplementary funding for the 2026 to 2027 financial year 
for universal 3- and 4-year-old entitlement hours only. The minimum hourly 

rate provided by the DfE for 2026-27 is £5.47 and the cap has been set at 
£10 per hour. 

 

Financial Implications 

 

11. The report deals with the funding formula for Early Years for 2026-27 and 
recommends a formula in line with statutory guidance.  

 
12. The proposed formula for 3- and 4-year-olds, 2- year-olds and 9 months to 2-

year-olds has been modelled in line with the initial allocation published by the 

DfE in December 2025. Each year, there is uncertainty around the take-up of 
the number of hours for each entitlement. 

 
13. For all Early Years funding streams (excluding DAF), the DfE will update the 

allocations for the funding streams three times for the 2026-27 financial year as 

the termly census number become available. Final funding allocations to the LA 
for 2026-27 will be updated in July 2027, to reflect the adjustment for the 

January 2027 spring term census. This final funding allocation will be after the 
end of 2026-27 financial year, which means that there is considerable 
uncertainty regarding the final level of funding for 2026-27, as in previous years.  

 
14. For the final funding allocations, the termly censuses for all the early years 

funding streams (except DAF), for the 2026 to 2027 financial year will be 

calculated as a weighted average, along with the AP census, in accordance 
with the DSG technical note as published in December 2025.  

 
Comments checked by: 
Jane Billington, Strategic Finance Business Partner 

 

Legal Implications  

15. The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2026 

provide the legal basis for DfE to formulate the Early Years National Funding 

Formula which must be followed by the Council. The Council has also 

considered and applied the supporting Guidance on Early Years Entitlements: 

Local Authority Funding Operational Guide 2026 to 2027 (updated 13 January 

2026) and this report sets out how the EYNFF is implemented by the Council.  

 
Jay Akbar, Head of Legal & Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Staff Implications 

 
16. There are no new staffing implications. 

 

Page 24



5 

 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
17. The County Council is passing on the Early Years Funding in line with DfE 

guidance. The Council therefore relies on the DfE review of Equality & Inclusion 
implications. 

Sustainability Implications 

 
18. There are no sustainability implications.  

 

Risk Management 

 
19. There are significant risks in setting the EYNFF for 2026-27 due to the funding 

being updated on the termly census data and setting the provider rate at the 

beginning of 2026-27, when take up information for 2026-27 is unknown. 
There is therefore a risk that DSG funding and payments will not match. Final 

funding allocations will not be known until July 2027. This risk is managed via 
the DSG unusable reserve. 

 

 
Lisa Lyons 

Director for Children’s Services 

 
 

Background papers: None  
 
Contact Officer: Emma Wren, Finance Business Partner (Education) 

 Emma.Wren@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 
February 2026 

Page 25

mailto:Emma.Wren@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	5 Enhanced Pathways Business Case
	6 Formal Approval of Early Years Funding Formula 2026/27

